
 

 

When telephoning, please ask for: Democratic Services 
Direct dial  0115 914 8511 
Email  democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk 
 
Our reference:  
Your reference: 
Date: Wednesday, 12 June 2024 

 
 
To all Members of the Planning Committee 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
A Meeting of the Planning Committee will be held on Thursday, 20 June 2024 at 
6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West 
Bridgford to consider the following items of business. 
 
This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on  
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC 
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be  
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home  
page until you see the video appear. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
Gemma Dennis 
Monitoring Officer   
 

AGENDA 

 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence and Substitute Members  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 

 Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution 
 

3.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 May 2024 (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

4.   Planning Applications (Pages 5 - 28) 
 

 The report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 

5.   Planning Appeals (Pages 29 - 42) 
 

 The report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 

 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct


 

 

 
Membership  
 
Chair: Councillor R Butler  
Vice-Chair: Councillor R Walker 
Councillors: S Calvert, J Chaplain, A Edyvean, S Ellis, E Georgiou, S Mallender, 
D Mason, C Thomas and T Wells 
 

Meeting Room Guidance 

 
Fire Alarm Evacuation:  in the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the 
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber.  You 
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the 
building. 
 
Toilets: are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first 
floor. 
 
Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is 
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.   
 
Microphones:  When you are invited to speak please press the button on your 
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem.  Please ensure that you switch 
this off after you have spoken.   
 

Recording at Meetings 

 
The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 allows filming and 
recording by anyone attending a meeting. This is not within the Council’s control.  
 
Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its 
decision making.  As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings 
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be 
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt 
 
 



 

 

 
 

MINUTES 
OF THE MEETING OF THE 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 
THURSDAY, 9 MAY 2024 

 
Held at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West 

Bridgford 
and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel 

PRESENT: 
 Councillors R Butler (Chair), T Wells (Vice-Chair), A Brown, S Calvert, 

J Chaplain, A Edyvean, E Georgiou, S Mallender, C Thomas, R Walker and 
S Ellis 

 
 ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 

Councillors   
 
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 H Knott Service Manger - Planning 
 E Dodd Planning Manager - Development 

Lead Specialist 
 M Hilton Area Planning Officer 
 P Taylor 

A Walker 
Strategic Sites Delivery Officer 
Solicitor 

 T Coop Democratic Services Officer 
 
 APOLOGIES: 

Councillors H Parekh 
 
40 Declarations of Interest 

 
 Councillor R Walker and Councillor A Brown declared a non-pecuniary interest 

as Ward Councillors for application 19/02915/FUL and would remove 
themselves from the discussion and vote for this item. 
 

41 Minutes of the Meeting held on 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 11 April 2024 were approved as a true 
record and were signed by the Chair. 
 

42 Planning Applications 
 

 The Committee considered the written report of the Director – Development 
and Economic Growth relating to the following applications, which had been 
circulated previously. 
 
Councillor R Walker and Councillor A Brown removed themselves from the 
Committee and did not contribute to the discussion or vote on the following 
application. 
 

page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 
19/02915/FUL – Residential development of 96 dwellings with associated 
infrastructure, access, and areas of open space at Land East of Gypsum 
Way, Gotham, Nottinghamshire. 
 
Updates 
 
An additional representation was received after the agenda had been 
published and this was circulated to the Committee before the meeting. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s Public Speaking Protocol for Planning 
Committee, Mr A Gore (Applicants Agent), Mr L McCauley (Gotham Parish 
Councillor) and Councillor R Walker (Ward Councillor) addressed the 
Committee. 
 
Comments 
 
Members of the Committee expressed concern about potential flooding and 
sewerage issues and the calculations submitted by Severn Trent Water and 
another Body whose data did not appear to match.  
 
The Committee were disappointed in the reduction in the number of affordable 
homes from 29 to 9 due to viability. 
 
The Chair requested that the developer note some of the Committees concerns 
with the hope of them being addressed once the S106 agreement and 
conditions are agreed.    
 
DECISION 
 
THE DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND ECONOMIC GROWTH BE 
AUTHORISED TO GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION SUBJECT TO THE 
PRIOR SIGNING OF A SECTION 106 AGREEMENT AND THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITION(S), WHICH THE DIRECTOR OF DEVELOPMENT AND 
ECONOMIC GROWTH IS ALSO AUTHORISED TO AMEND TO CORRECT 
ANY MATTERS THAT GO TO THE HEART OF ANY CONDITION(S).  
 
Councillor R Walker and Councillor A Brown rejoined the meeting. 
 
23/02238/FUL - Proposed residential conversion of brick-built threshing 
barn, cart-shed and stable building and the residential redevelopment of 
the balance of the former farm complex with 6 no. new dwellings, 
including associated landscaping, car parking and access works – 
Hollytree Farm, Cropwell Road, Tithby, Nottinghamshire. 
 
Updates 
 
In accordance the Council’s Public Speaking Protocol for Planning Committee 
Mr N Baseley (Applicants Agent), Mr A Williams (Chair – Tythby and Wiverton 
Parish Meeting) and Councillor T Birch (Ward Councillor). 
 
 

page 2



 

 

 
DECISION 
 
PLANNING PERMISSION BE REFUSED FOR THE REASONS DETAILED IN 
THE OFFICERS REPORT. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.55 pm. 

 
 

CHAIR 

page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

Planning Committee 
 
Thursday, 20 June 2024 
 
Planning Applications 

 

Report of the Director – Development and Economic Growth 
 
PLEASE NOTE: 

 
1. Slides relating to the application will be shown where appropriate. 

 
2. Plans illustrating the report are for identification only. 

 
3. Background Papers - the application file for each application is available for 

public inspection at the Rushcliffe Customer Contact Centre in accordance 
with the  Local Government Act 1972 and relevant planning 
legislation/Regulations.  Copies of the submitted application details are 
available on the   website http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online- 
applications/. This report is available as part of the Planning Committee Agenda 
which can be viewed five working days before the meeting at 
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=140  

 Once a decision has been taken on a planning application the decision notice 
is also displayed on the website. 

 
4. Reports to the Planning Committee take into account diversity and Crime and 

Disorder issues. Where such implications are material they are referred to in the 
reports, where they are balanced with other material planning considerations. 

 
5. With regard to S17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 the Police have 

advised they wish to be consulted on the following types of applications: major 
developments; those attracting significant numbers of the public e.g., public 
houses, takeaways etc.; ATM machines, new neighbourhood facilities including 
churches; major alterations to public buildings; significant areas of open 
space/landscaping or linear paths; form diversification to industrial uses in 
isolated locations. 

 
6. Where the Planning Committee have power to determine an application but the 

decision proposed would be contrary to the recommendation of the Director – 
Development and Economic Growth, the application may be referred to the 
Council for decision. 

7. The following notes appear on decision notices for full planning permissions: 
   “When carrying out building works you are advised to use door types and 
locks conforming to British Standards, together with windows that are 
performance tested (i.e. to BS 7950 for ground floor and easily accessible 
windows in homes). You are also advised to consider installing a burglar 
alarm, as this is the most effective way of protecting against burglary. 

page 5

Agenda Item 4

http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
http://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/
https://democracy.rushcliffe.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=140


If you have not already made a Building Regulations application we would 
recommend that you check to see if one is required as soon as possible. Help 
and guidance can be obtained by ringing 0115 914 8459, or by looking at our 
web site at 

http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol  
 
 
Application Address Page      

   
23/01251/FUL Land North West of 42 Wilford Lane, West Bridgford 7-28 

 Erection of 1no. dwelling 

 

 

Ward Compton Acres  
   
Recommendation Grant planning permission subject to conditions   

   
 

page 6

http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buildingcontrol
https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RWYWLMNL0GT00


page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

23/01251/FUL 

  

Applicant David Carter 

  

Location Land North West of 42 Wilford Lane, West Bridgford 
  

 
  

Proposal Erection of 1no. dwelling 
  

  

Ward Compton Acres 

   
THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
Details of the application can be found here 
 
1. The application relates to a parcel of land to the rear of 42 Wilford Lane in West 

Bridgford. The land is detailed as ‘garden’ in the ownership of No. 42, however, 
it appears that it has been used for a number of years for storing vehicles. 
 

2. The site is accessed from a private drive which currently serves 5 dwellings, 
with the River Trent situated at the northern end of the road. To the north and 
east of the site are residential dwellings and to the south a modern extension 
to No. 42. To the west is an access track to what appears to provide access to 
equipment relating to maintenance of the Trent. Further to the west is the car 
park to the medical centre. 
 

3. Properties in the vicinity of the site are a mix of styles with the frontage of No. 
42 traditional in appearance with a contemporary addition in 2015. To the east, 
No. 38 is similar in appearance to the frontage of No.42 with 2 contemporary 
flat roofed dwellings behind. To the immediate north of the site is No. 40 which 
is a traditional two storey hipped roof property.  
 

4. The site is flat, enclosed by high leylandii hedging on the northern boundary 
and vegetation; hedging/trees partially screen the site from view on the western 
boundary. The site is situated within flood zone 3.  

 
DETAILS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
5. The application seeks planning permission for the construction of a new 

dwelling. The dwelling would be contemporary in appearance and 2-3 storey 
in height with a flat roof.  
 

6. The dwelling would be approximately L -plan in shape with the ground floor 
containing a carport and entrance hall. The 1st floor would contain a kitchen, 
lounge and bedroom. At 2nd floor level would be a further 4 bedrooms.  
 

7. Materials are proposed to be a mix of concrete, render and timber cladding, 
with green roofs and solar PV panels. Sufficient space is proposed on the 
frontage of the property for two cars to park with a carport beyond.  

page 9

https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=RWYWLMNL0GT00


 

 

 

 
8. To the rear is proposed to be a private garden area, which would be enclosed 

from the front by timber fencing.  
 

9. During the course of development the plans have been amended a number of 
times. The alterations during the course of these amendments include 
alterations to the ground floor accommodation, changes to the car port/garage, 
and the inclusion of an access gate.  

 
SITE HISTORY 
 
10. 16/01264/FUL - New dwelling to the rear of 42 Wilford Lane. Approved 2016. 

 
11. 15/02349/FUL - Single and two storey rear extension. Approved 2016. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
Ward Councillor(s) 
 
12. Cllr A Phillips objects to the application, noting that the Environment Agency 

makes the point that the LPA should take into consideration the cumulative 
impact of multiple small developments within the floodplain. Cllr Phillips notes 
that flooding at Wilford Lane has been experienced recently and after the rain 
had stopped the River Trent flood defence walls had not been breached. 
Because river levels have remained high, water that would have drained into 
the river was actually back flowing and coming out of the drains and sewers on 
to Wilford Lane and surrounding area including the tramline and path by 
Gresham Playing Fields.  

 
There is more flooding in the area in recent years due to the over development 
and the loss of vegetation and natural soakaways. Whilst this application is 
small by comparison to other developments in the area it is part of the 
cumulative effect.  
 
All Councillors were agreed at Full Council in September 2023 that flooding is 
becoming an increasing concern for residents and more needed to be done.  
 

13. Cllr H Om objects and endorses the comments made by Cllr Phillips.  
 
Statutory and Other Consultees 
 
14. The Highway Authority (Nottinghamshire County Council) notes that the 

application site is accessed via a shared private drive. The shared private drive 
serves a total of 5 dwellings at presents and the Highway Authority is of the 
view that the increase in traffic associated with the addition of a single dwelling 
is not considered to result in a material change to the current situation. No 
objection is raised subject to a condition requiring all parking provision to be 
provided in accordance with the approved plans prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling.  
 

15. Environment Agency (EA) notes that the applicant has advised that they are 
unable to provide floodplain compensation and therefore the proposal would 
displace water in a flood event. This is because the EA does not recognise 
stilts and voids as floodplain compensation as there is no guarantee that the 

page 10



 

 

 

void will be available for the storage of flood water for the lifetime of the 
development and the areas can become silted and clogged with debris over 
time.  
 
The application site is fully defended during the 1 in 100 year (1% annual 
probability) event from the River Trent. However, when the impacts of future 
climate change are taken into account, the site is impacted. There is a 
reasonable likelihood of the River Trent defences in Nottingham keeping pace 
with climate change due to the density of vulnerable receptors generally 
providing a robust economic case.  
 
Based on the 29% climate change scenario, which is recommended for this 
catchment, the applicant advises there will be a displacement of approximately 
211m³ of water during the design flood event (30% climate change scenario 
assessed in the absence of 29% data). This is a substantial volume of water, 
however in the context of the River Trent floodplain, it is unlikely to result in 
any measurable change in flood depths across the flood cell. The EA has 
advised that it is concerned by the cumulative effect of such proposals though. 
 
In this instance the EA does not object to the proposal, however, they 
encourage the LPA in its decision making to consider the cumulative effect of 
small developments within the flood plain and ensure that a sequential 
approach to planning is taken by considering sites in areas at the lowest risk 
of flooding first. Recommends a condition for the development to be carried 
out in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment.  

 
16. Nottinghamshire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has 

advised that they should only be consulted on major developments and 
therefore do not provide bespoke comments. They provided the general advice 
that development should not increase flood risk to existing properties or put the 
development at risk of flooding, any discharge of water from the site should 
look at infiltration – watercourse – sewer as the priority order for discharge 
location, and SUDS should be considered where feasible.  
 

17. Rushcliffe Borough Council Environmental Senior Ecology and Sustainability 
Officer advises that a preliminary ecological appraisal and preliminary roost 
assessment has been supplied with the survey carried out in January 2023 
and notes that whilst this is outside of the optimal survey period it can be used 
to characterise the site and identify whether further surveys are required. The 
survey has followed good practice and is in date until December 2023.  
 
The appraisals confirmed no protected or priority species present. Building B1 
offers moderate bat roost potential but no works are proposed to this building 
and the trees to the south of this building with bat roost potential are to be 
retained. Further survey work would be required if these were to be removed. 
The site has potential for wild birds, foraging bats, badgers and mammals. 
Invasive cotoneaster and snowberry were confirmed. 
 
No nationally or locally designated sites are likely to be impacted.  
 
Recommends conditions for reasonable avoidance measures and 
enhancement measures as per the recommendations with the preliminary 
ecological appraisal.  
 

page 11



 

 

 

Advises it is unlikely that this development would have a detrimental impact on 
populations of protected species.  

 
18. Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust (NWT) is not usually consulted on applications 

such as this as matters relating to ecology are dealt with by Rushcliffe Borough 
Council Officers. However, as the NWT has provided comments these are 
reported on.  

 
Recommendations are made for a precautionary working method to be 
produced and incorporated into a Landscape and Ecology Management Plan. 
Two mature trees (T11 and T12 should be retained and protected during 
development. the trees provide a\n opportunity for breeding birds, roosting bats 
and invertebrates and the heavy canopies are also likely to act as a foraging 
and commuting resource. Further assessment of these trees should be 
provided by the ecologist. Light spill should not fall within the green corridor.  
 
There is local badger activity and it is highly likely there are hedgehogs on site. 
As such precautionary working methods would be required. A hedgehog 
highway should be incorporated on boundary fences.  
 
Sensitive timings of works for vegetation clearance is required and fingertip 
searches for sheltering herptiles/mammals will be required.  
 
The loss of bird nesting habitat should be compensated through the creation 
of additional habitat (hedgerow, dense shrubs, or scrub planting). Bird boxes 
can also be included as ecological enhancement.  

 
19. Rushcliffe Borough Council Senior Design and Landscaping Officer advises 

that along the north boundary of the site is a tall leylandii hedge, just outside 
the western boundary is a mature Ash with a Holly tree located just to the south 
within this site. The proposed building respects the root protection area (RPA) 
of the Leylandii hedge and Holly tree, but the supporting wall of the lounge 
which forms the undercroft courtyard is located within the RPA of the Ash and 
there would be a risk of root damage. Advises that the development should be 
carried out in accordance with the recommendation within paragraph 4.1.3 of 
the Arboricultural Report which recommends precautionary working measures 
are followed in the excavation for the footings with the RPA. If any roots of 
25mm diameter are identified then the trench should be backfilled and 
proposals for a foundation design that allows their retention should be 
submitted and approved prior to further works commencing.  
 

20. Rushcliffe Borough Council Environmental Health Officer is satisfied with the 
finding of the noise survey noting the recommendations within it in respect of 
noise mitigation and an overheating assessment are conditioned.  
 
Advises that the potential risk to human health and controlled waters from land 
contamination is low and recommends condition with respect to a watching 
brief for unforeseen and/or unexpected contamination.  

 
Local Residents and the General Public  
 
21. Letters have been sent to neighbouring residents and a site notice posted at 

the site. Objections have been received from 4 members of the public, 1 neutral 
response has been received, and 1 letter of support has been received. It 

page 12



 

 

 

should be noted that the letter of support was submitted by the owner of No. 
42 Wilford Lane who is also the applicant.  
 

22. Reasons for objection can be summarised as follows: 
 
- Insufficient parking 
- The applicant is not the owner of the lane 
- Increased flood risk 
- Land contamination concerns due to the siting and sale of cars on the 

existing site 
- Increased traffic resulting in highway safety concerns 
- Potential overlooking and loss of privacy 
- Nowhere for work vehicles to park during construction phase 
- The FRA accepts no liability and should not be accepted  
- Loss of trees which has already occurred due to site clearance  
- Wrong house numbers and post code shown on application form and plans 
- Overshadowing and loss of light 
- Access issues for neighbouring property  
- Insufficient bin storage 
- Solar PV panels not shown on the plans 
- Trees lining the access drive not referred to 
- Title deeds require all windows on north east elevations to be frosted or 

opaque glass up to a height of 5’6” from floor level 
- Impact on wildlife 
- Plan showing sewers are representational and not to scale and the survey 

was not extended to the connection to the main sewer on Wilford Lane  
- No provision for vehicles to turn on private lane.  

 
23. The neutral comments can be summarised as follows: 

 
- Concerns about unallocated parking along the shared drive  
- Concerns about flooding and impact on safety.  

 
24. The comments in support of the application can be summarised as follows: 

 
- Previous application for a similar size dwelling was approved 
- Extra car parking would be provided to contractors during the build process 

to the front of  No. 42  
- The private shared drive is not a busy road 
- The existing site is unsightly 
- Proposed build would be in keeping with the local properties and 

environmentally friendly.  
 
Full comments can be found here 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
25. The Development Plan for Rushcliffe consists of The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 

1: Core Strategy (LPP1) and the Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 
(LPP2). Other material considerations include the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the National Planning Practice Guidance (the 
Guidance). 

 
 

page 13

https://planningon-line.rushcliffe.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=neighbourComments&keyVal=RWYWLMNL0GT00


 

 

 

Relevant National Planning Policies and Guidance 
 
26. The relevant policy considerations in the NPPF are: 

• Paragraph 11c) 

• Chapter 5 (Delivering a sufficient supply of homes) 

• Chapter 11 (Making effective use of land) 

• Chapter 12 (Achieving well- designed and beautiful places)  

• Chapter 14 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change) 

• Chapter 15 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment). 
 

Full details of the NPPF can be found here. 
 
Relevant Local Planning Policies and Guidance 
 
27. The relevant policy considerations in the LPP1 are: 

• Policy 1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development) 

• Policy 2 (Climate Change) 

• Policy 3 (Spatial Strategy) 

• Policy 8 (Housing Size, Mix and Choice) 

• Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) 

• Policy 14: Managing Travel Demand 

• Policy 17: Biodiversity. 
 

28. The relevant policy considerations in the LPP2 are: 

• Policy 1 (Development Requirements) 

• Policy 11 (Housing Development on Unallocated Sites within 
Settlements) 

• Policy 12 (Housing Standards) 

• Policy 17: Managing Flood Risk 

• Policy 18: Surface Water Management 

• Policy 37: Trees and Woodlands 

• Policy 38: Non-designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider Ecological 
Network. 

 
29. The Rushcliffe Residential Design Guide is also a material consideration.  

 
30. The full text of the policies in the LPP1 and LPP2, together with the supporting 

text can be found in the Local Plan documents on the Council’s website at: 
Planning Policy - Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

 
APPRAISAL 
 
31. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Framework does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision 
making. Proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan 
should be approved, and proposed development that conflicts should be 
refused unless other material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 

page 14

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planning-growth/planning-policy/


 

 

 

32. The main issues in the consideration of the application are the principle of 
development, design and impact on the character and appearance of the area; 
residential amenity, flood risk, ecology, trees and highway safety.  

 
Principle of development 
 
33. The overarching Policy 1 in the Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy reinforces that 

a positive and proactive approach to decision making should be had which 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the 
NPPF. 
 

34. The proposal falls to be considered under LPP2 Policy 11 (Housing 
Development on Unallocated Sites within Settlements), whereby planning 
permission will be granted for development on unallocated sites subject to 
compliance with the criteria listed under part 1 of this policy. Of specific 
relevance are criteria a, b, c, f, and g whereby planning permission will be 
granted provided that:  
 
a)  the proposal in terms of scale and location is in accordance with Local 

Plan Part 1: Core Strategy Policy 3 (Spatial Strategy); 
b)  the proposal is of a high standard of design and does not adversely 

affect the character or pattern of the area by reason of its scale, bulk, 
form, layout or materials; 

c)  the existing site does not make a significant contribution to the amenity 
of the surrounding area by virtue of its character or open nature; 

f)  the proposal would not cause a significant adverse impact on the 
amenity of nearby residents and occupiers; and 

g)  appropriate provision for access and parking is made. 
 
35. In terms of the principle of development, the site falls within the built- up area 

of West Bridgford and therefore a residential development in this location 
would be in accordance with Policy 3 of the LPP1 (Spatial Strategy). The site 
is centrally located close to shops, services and frequent transport links. The 
existing site is a largely enclosed area of land between two residential 
dwellings. The site is not considered to have any characteristics that offer 
significant benefits to the amenity of the surrounding area by virtue of its 
character and its does not have a particularly open nature. As such the 
principle of development would be in accordance with Policy 11, subject to an 
assessment of impact on the character or the area, amenity on neighbouring 
occupiers, highway impact, impact on flood risk, and ecological impact.  

 
Amenity  

 
36. Core Strategy policy 10 states that development should be assessed in terms 

of its impact on the amenity of occupiers and nearby residents. This is 
reinforced under policy 1 of the Land and Planning Policies document, which 
states that development should not be granted where there is a significant 
adverse effect upon the amenity of adjoining properties. 
 

37. The proposed dwelling would be set across from No. 36 and 38A to the west. 
No. 40 is located adjacent to the proposed dwelling to the north, with No. 42 to 
the south. 
 

38. The upper element of the proposed dwelling would be 8.4m at its highest and 
page 15



 

 

 

the lower element 5.7m. Windows are proposed on the northern, eastern and 
western elevations at first and second storey. The property would be 
approximately 17m to the south of No. 40 and 25.5m to the west of 36 and 
38A. The property would be set in approximately 3.4m from the south boundary 
of the site with No. 42. It would not project beyond the east side of No. 42, and 
the neighbouring property has most of its private amenity space to the south 
of the dwelling. It is considered that these distances are sufficient relative to 
the scale of the proposed dwelling to ensure it would not result in an 
unacceptable overbearing or overshadowing impact for the residents of the 
neighbouring properties.  
 

39. Two windows at second floor level are proposed in the north side elevation of 
the dwelling orientated towards No. 40. However given the separation distance 
and presence of large leylandii hedge, which is within the ownership of the 
applicant it is not considered that these windows would result in a loss of 
amenity. Should the hedge be removed in the future the windows would be 
orientated over the front of No. 40, which is considered to be less private and 
already partially overlooked by 38A to the east. 

 
40. No. 42 has glazing in the northern and western elevation of the contemporary 

addition, however views towards the private garden area for the proposed 
dwelling would be limited by the distance; approximately 15m, the mass of the 
two storey garage element and tree screening proposed on the boundary, 
which can be secured via a landscaping scheme. Windows are proposed on 
the southern elevation of the proposed property however, in line with the 
above, along with the distance form the openings which are set into the site it 
is considered that they would not result in unacceptable overlooking of No. 42 
to the south.  
 

41. It is noted that objections have been raised by the residents of No. 36 and 38A 
with respect to potential overlooking, and overshadowing of the patio area at 
No. 36 which is located on the west side of No. 36. The proposed dwelling 
would be situated with its front elevation towards the front elevation of No. 38A, 
and the side elevation of No. 36. The relationship would be similar to the 
relationship of the existing dwellings on the west of the shared private drive. 
The objectors have suggested the dwelling should be set further back within 
the plot, however, to do so would push the proposed dwelling into the root 
protection areas for existing trees, potentially causing unacceptable harm. The 
relationship between the proposed dwelling and the existing dwellings to the 
east is not considered to result in an unacceptable loss of privacy for the 
residents of the existing dwellings. With respect to the patio area at No. 36, this 
dwelling is set within a substantial plot with extensive private amenity space to 
the south of the dwelling. Whilst some loss of light to the specific area in 
question may result from the proposed development, given the amount of 
private amenity space across the rest of the property this is not considered so 
significant as to result in an unacceptable loss of amenity to the extent that 
planning permission should be refused.  
 

42. Objection comments also advise that title deeds for properties along the shared 
private drive stipulate that windows on north east elevation of properties should 
be obscurely glazed. If this is the case this is a legal matter that is not a material 
consideration in the determination of the planning application. From a planning 
perspective it is considered the separation distances are sufficient to ensure 
that the proposal would not result in an unacceptable loss of amenity for the 

page 16



 

 

 

residents of neighbouring properties by way of overlooking.  
 

43. The dwelling would offer a good standard of amenity for future occupiers with 
outlooks from all habitable rooms and a private garden area, which whilst being 
relatively modest is in close proximity to green spaces situated to the north on 
the embankment.  
 

44. A noise report has been submitted with the application which the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has reviewed and is satisfied with. It should be 
conditioned that the recommendations of the noise report are complied with.  
 

45. The proposal is considered acceptable in terms of occupier amenity and 
neighbouring amenity and it therefore complies with Policy 10 of the LPP1 and 
Policy 1 and criteria f) of  Policy 11  of the LPP2.  
 

Design and Appearance 
 

46. Core Strategy Policy 10, Design and Enhancing Local Identity, states that 
development should make a positive contribution to the public realm and sense 
of place and should have regard to the local context and reinforce valued local 
characteristics. Development should be assessed, amongst other things in 
terms of its massing, scale, proportions, materials, architectural style and 
detailing. This is reinforced under Policy 1 of the Local Plan Part 2, which also 
states that development should be sympathetic to the character and 
appearance of neighbouring buildings and the surrounding area. 
 

47. Chapter 12 of the NPPF concerns achieving well-designed and beautiful 
places. Specifically, it requires that development should function well and add 
to the overall quality of the area, not just in the short term but over the lifetime 
of the development. Development should also be visually attractive as a result 
of good architecture, layout and landscaping and should be sympathetic to 
local character and history and maintain a strong sense of place. 
 

48. The proposal is for a contemporary dwelling which would be a mix of two and 
three storeys with the overall height up to 8.4m. The building would have a flat 
roof, with the lower roof to have a green roof, with solar PV panels to be 
installed on the higher roof. The ground floor is proposed to be constructed 
from concrete with upper elements a mix of white render and timber cladding.  
 

49. The building is considered to respond to design influence from the two 
contemporary dwellings situated to the north and it is considered that it would 
sit comfortably within the street given the existing contemporary design 
influence.  
 

50. The size of the dwelling and plot within which it sits would be comparable to 
the new build properties to the north of the site, and as such it is considered 
that it would be in keeping with the character of the surrounding area.  
 

51. In the interests of ensuring a successful build it is recommended that precise 
materials, means of enclosure and green roofs be secured by condition.  
 

52. It is considered that the scale, mass and finish of the dwelling would be 
acceptable and the proposal would accord with Policy 1 and criteria b) of policy 
11 of the LPP2.  

page 17



 

 

 

 
Flood Risk 
 
53. The site falls within a high flood risk area (flood zone 3), albeit in an area that 

benefits from extensive flood defences. A flood risk assessment (FRA), 
sequential and exception test have been submitted and reviewed by officers 
and the Environment Agency. The Lead Local Flood Authority has been 
consulted but has advised that they have no specific comments to offer as the 
application is not for a major development.  
 

54. No objection has been raised subject to development being undertaken in 
accordance with the approved assessment.  
 

55. The FRA provided by the applicant sets out that floodplain compensation has 
been considered due to the proposed raised finished floor level across the 
building footprint and it is noted that a volume of 211m³ could be displaced as 
a result of the proposals. The FRA advises that there is no opportunity to 
provide this quantity of level-for-level floodplain compensation within the site 
or land within the ownership of the applicant. The building has therefore been 
designed with a suspended floor incorporating floodable space beneath the 
footprint of the proposed development to mitigate any flood water 
displacement.  
 

56. The EA advises that the stilts and voids are not recognised as floodplain 
compensation as there is no guarantee that the void would be available for the 
storage offload water for the lifetime of the development and the areas can 
become silted and clogged with debris over time.  
 

57. The requirement for floodplain compensation is typically a requirement for 
development to comply with the NPPF’s requirement for development to not 
increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. The EA advises that the site is fully 
protected during the 1 in 100 year (1% annual probability) event for the River 
Trent. It is noted that when the impacts of future climate change are taken into 
account, the site is impacted. However, the EA advises that whilst there are no 
guarantees, given the location of the application site within a densely populated 
area, there is a reasonable likelihood of the River Trent defences in Nottingham 
keeping pace with climate change.  
 

58. The EA advises that whilst the amount of water that could be displaced by the 
proposal is substantial, in the context of the River Trent floodplain it is unlikely 
to result in any measurable change in flood depths across the flood cell. With 
this in mind the EA does not object to the application.  
 

59. The EA encourages the LPA in its decision making to consider the cumulative 
effect of multiple small developments within the flood plain and ensure that a 
sequential approach to planning is taken by considering sites in areas at lowest 
risk of flooding first. 
 

60. It is noted that no objection was raised to the previous approval for a dwelling 
on the site in 2016 and the sequential test provided by the applicant identifies 
no sequentially preferable sites that is at a lower risk of flooding, capable of 
accommodating the development and available. The exception test outlines 
that the site is sustainably located in close proximity to day to day facilities and 
public transport connections. Furthermore, the proposal is considered to be 

page 18



 

 

 

safe for its lifetime from flooding and would not contribute towards flooding 
elsewhere. It is considered that the sequential and exception test are complied 
with.  
 

61. This application has been considered in terms of the role it could have in the 
cumulative impact of small developments within the flood plain. However, of 
most significance is the EA’s assessment that the amount of flood water 
displacement, in the context of the River Trent floodplain is unlikely to result in 
any measurable changes across the flood cell. Furthermore, the site benefits 
from extensive protection against flood events, and as advised by the EA it is 
likely that such flood defences will keep pace with climate change. It is 
therefore considered that the proposed development would have minimal 
impact on flood risk either on this site, or elsewhere in the area, based on the 
information provided within the FRA and the comments provided by the EA, 
which conclude with the statutory consultee raising no objection. As such a 
refusal on the grounds of flood risk is unlikely to be sustained on appeal.  
 

62. The EA has advised that should planning permission be granted it should be 
subject to a condition requiring development to be carried out in accordance 
with the FRA and for measures including finished floor levels to be set no lower 
than 25.47 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD), the building should be 
constructed with a suspended floor incorporating floodable space beneath it, 
and the implementation of flood mitigation measures as detailed within Section 
15.10 of the report.  
 

63. No habitable accommodation is proposed on the ground floor of the property 
which includes a car port with open access to the front and rear, and a modest 
hallway. As such this area would be floodable in line with the requirements of 
the FRA. The existing site ground level varies from approximately 23.5-23.7m 
AOD. The submitted section indicates that the first floor level would be 
approximately 2.5m above existing ground level at approximately 26.1m. The 
mitigation measures set out in paragraph 15.10 of the FRA relate to the 
detailed build the requirement to comply with these would be included in the 
condition for the development to comply with the FRA.  
 

64. No details have been provided in relation to surface water attenuation. The 
application form indicates that foul sewage would be disposed of via the mains 
sewer, and surface water would be disposed of via a sustainable drainage 
system and main sewer. As per paragraph 6.2 of the FRA, the application site 
is assessed as being at very low risk of pluvial flooding (surface water), sewer 
flooding and groundwater flooding. As such, and in accordance with Policy 18 
of the LPP2, it is considered sufficient at this stage to attach a condition 
requiring the submission of a surface water drainage scheme to be submitted 
and agreed prior to the commencement of development.  
 

Highway Safety 
 

65. The proposal has been reviewed by the Nottinghamshire County Council 
Highway department and no objection has been raised. The property would be 
accessed from a private drive which already serves five other properties. NCC 
highways have concluded that the increase in traffic associated with one 
additional dwelling would not result in a material change to the current access 
arrangements.  
 

page 19



 

 

 

66. The property would have 5 bedrooms, and in accordance with the 
Nottinghamshire County Council Highway Design Guide this would have a 
requirement for a minimum of 3 parking spaces. The proposed car port is of a 
sufficient size to be considered as a double car port, and there is adequate 
provision on the drive to the front of this for a further parking space. The 
proposal would therefore be in accordance with the Highway Design Guide. In 
the interests of promoting sustainability an electric vehicle charging point shall 
be secured via condition. 
 

67. The comments received relating to parking during construction are noted; it 
would appear that there is sufficient space for construction vehicles to park on 
the site during construction or to the front of No. 42. Given the proposal only 
relates to a single property it is not considered that a construction traffic 
management plan is required to address this.  
 

68. Overall it is considered that the proposal would not result in highway safety 
concerns and would accord with criteria g) of Policy 11 of the LPP2 and 
national policy guidance.  

 
Ecology and Trees 
 
69. The application has been supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal and 

bat roost assessment which has been reviewed by the Council’s Ecology 
Officer.  No protected species have been detected on site and no objection has 
been raised. Conditions are recommended for reasonable avoidance 
measures and enhancement measures as per the recommendations of the 
report. It is noted that the surveys provided are in date to December 2023. As 
this date has now passed, but no protected or priority species have been 
identified on the site, it is considered reasonable and necessary to condition 
that updated surveys are carried out prior to development commencing.  
  

70. The Nottinghamshire Wildlife Trust has also made recommendations, many of 
which are covered by the avoidance and mitigation measures within the 
preliminary ecological appraisal.   
 

71. The applicant has also submitted an arboricultural assessment which 
demonstrates that the proposed dwelling would be compatible in relation to 
existing trees/hedges on the site. The leylandii hedge which of limited interest 
provides important screening. The two trees on the western boundary; one 
identified as being inside and the other outside the site would be compatible 
with the proposed development and offer screening to future occupiers.  
 

72. The foundations for the building would be within the root protection area (RPA) 
of the Ash Tree and there would be a risk of root damage. Recommendations 
for development in this area have been recommended within the report, which 
the Council’s Landscaping Officer accepts, subject to an amendment to the 
recommendation that if roots of more than 25mm in diameter are encountered 
during excavation for the footings an alternative method for footings is agreed 
with the Council to ensure no damage to the tree. Further tree planting has 
been indicated on the proposed site plan which shall be secured by way of 
landscaping condition with a view to improving the visual amenity of the site in 
accordance with Policy 10 of the LPP1 and Policy 1 of the LPP2.  
 
 

page 20

https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/media/5082110/41-residential-parking.pdf


 

 

 

Other Matters 
 

73. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has advised that they are satisfied 
that the potential risk to human health and controlled waters from land 
contamination is low and recommends condition with respect to a watching 
brief for unforeseen and/or unexpected contamination. 
 

Conclusions 
 

74. Negotiations have taken place during the consideration of the application to 
address adverse impacts identified by officers in connection with the proposal. 
Amendments have been made to the proposal, addressing the identified 
adverse impacts, thereby resulting in a more acceptable scheme and the 
recommendation of granting planning permission. 
 

75. For the reasons set out above it is considered that the application accords with 
the general national and local planning policies considered above, resulting in 
a recommendation to recommend the grant planning permission.  

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
It is RECOMMENDED that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
condition(s) 

 
1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of three years 

beginning with the date of this permission. 
 
 [To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 

amended by the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004]. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 
 

• Site location plan - Dwg No. 1200 rev P1 

• Proposed site block plan - Dwg No. 1201 Rev P3; received 24 April 2024 

• Proposed 00 ground - Dwg No. 2200 Rev P5; received 9 April 2024 

• Proposed 1st and 2nd floor plans - Dwg No. 2201 Rev P3; received 9 
April 2024 

• Proposed section A-A Dwg No. 3200 Rev P4; received 24 April 2024 

• Proposed front elevation - Dwg No. 3701 Rev P6; received 24 April 2024 

• Proposed rear elevation - Dwg No. 3702 Rev P5; received 24 April 2024 

• Proposed side elevation - Dwg No. 3703 Rev P4; received 24 April 2024 

• Proposed side elevation - 2 Dwg No. 3707 Rev P4; received 24 April 
2024. 

 
[For the avoidance of doubt and to comply with Policy 1 (Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: 
Core Strategy and Policy 1 (Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe 
Local Plan Part 2: Land & Planning Policies]. 

 
3. The development hereby permitted must not be occupied until a written 

scheme for the hard and soft landscaping of the site (including the location, 
number, size and species of any new trees/shrubs to be planted) has been 

page 21



 

 

 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Thereafter the scheme must be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the approved details no later than during the first planting season 
(October - March) following either the substantial completion of the 
development hereby permitted or it being brought into use, whichever is 
sooner.  
 
If, within a period of 5 years from the date of planting, any tree or shrub 
planted as part of the approved scheme are removed, uprooted, destroyed, 
dies or become diseased or damaged then another tree or shrub of the same 
species and size as that originally planted must be planted in the same place 
during the next planting season following its removal.  
 
Once provided all hard landscaping works shall thereafter be permanently 
retained throughout the lifetime of the development. 
 
[To ensure the development creates a visually attractive environment and to 
safeguard against significant adverse effects on the landscape character of 
the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of 
the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014); Policy 1 (Development 
Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies (2019) and Chapter 12 (Achieving Well-designed Places) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (February 2023).] 

 
4. The dwelling shall not be occupied until its associated parking provision has 

been provided in accordance with the approved site plan (ref 1201 rev P3). 
The parking provision shall thereafter be retained for the life of the 
development. 

 
[In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy 10 of the LPP1]. 
 

5. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations 
set out in the following paragraphs of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
undertaken by emec Ecology dated July 2023: 

 
5.2.1 – in respect of cotoneaster and snowberry 
5.3.1 – in reference to vegetation and nesting birds 
5.3.2 – in respect of vegetation removal 
5.4.1 – in respect of the bat commuting corridor 
5.5.1 – in reference to mammals 
5.6.1 – in reference to bat boxes 
5.6.2 – in reference to bird nest boxes. 
 
The dwelling shall not be first occupied until the bat and bird boxes required 
under paragraphs 5.6.1 and 5.6.2 have been installed, and these shall be 
retained for the lifetime of the development.  
 
[In the interests of promoting ecological enhancement and to accord with 
policy 38 of the LPP2]. 
 

6. Prior to the commencement of development an updated extended Phase 1 
Habitat survey should be carried out by a suitably qualified ecologist. The 
results of the survey should be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

page 22



 

 

 

Local Planning Authority. Should the survey recommend any mitigation or 
enhancement measures that differ to those recommended in the original 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (condition 5 above) then details of how 
these shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the approved mitigation measures shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed timeframe and be retained for the lifetime of the 
development.  
 
To ensure the development does not harm protected species, having regard 
to Policy 17 (Biodiversity) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 
(2014); Policy 38 (Non-Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider 
Ecological Network) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies (2019); Chapter 15 (Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

7. Prior to the installation of any external lighting at the site a Sensitive 
Lighting Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out strictly in 
accordance with the approved details.  

 
To mitigate the effects of increased light spill at the site on protected bat 
species, having regard to Policy 17 (Biodiversity) of the Rushcliffe Local 
Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014); Policy 38 (Non-Designated Biodiversity 
Assets and the Wider Ecological Network) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 
2: Land and Planning Policies (2019); Chapter 15 (Conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
8. Excavation for footings within the RPA of T12 shall be carried out in 

accordance with the recommendations of paragraph 4.1.3 of the 
Arboricultural Report by emec Arboriculture. If during the excavation works 
any roots that exceed 25mm in diameter are exposed the trench shshall be 
backfilled and proposals for a foundation design that allows for the retention 
of these roots shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the foundations in this area being installed. The 
development shall then commence in accordance with the approved details.  
 
To ensure the adequate protection of the existing trees and hedgerows on 
the site during the construction of the development having regard to regard 
to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the Rushcliffe Local 
Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014); Policies 37 (Trees and Woodlands) and 38 
(Non-Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider Ecological Network) of 
the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019) and 
Chapter 15 (Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
9. The development hereby permitted must not commence until details of tree 

protection measures have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall then be carried out strictly 
in accordance with the approved details. 

 
To ensure the adequate protection of the existing trees and hedgerows on 
the site during the construction of the development having regard to regard 
to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the Rushcliffe Local 

page 23



 

 

 

Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014); Policies 37 (Trees and Woodlands) and 38 
(Non-Designated Biodiversity Assets and the Wider Ecological Network) of 
the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019) and 
Chapter 15 (Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
10. Prior to installation details of the sliding gate at the access to the application 

site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The gate shall then be installed in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
[To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory having regard 
to policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the Rushcliffe Local 
Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan 
Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019)]. 

 
11. The development hereby approved must not proceed above damp proof 

course level until details of the type, texture and colour of the materials to 
be used in the construction of the exterior of the development have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
[To ensure the appearance of the development is satisfactory having regard 
to policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identity) of the Rushcliffe Local 
Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan 
Part 2: Land and Planning Policies (2019)]. 

 
12. The dwelling hereby permitted must not be occupied until the optional 

requirement for water efficiency (i.e: not exceeding 110 litres per person per 
day) set out at Regulation 36(2)(b) of the Building Regulations 2010 (as 
amended)(or any equivalent regulation revoking and/or re-enacting that 
Statutory Instrument) has been complied with. Thereafter this water 
efficiency standard must be retained throughout the life of the dwellings. 
 
[To promote a reduction in water consumption and to comply with criteria 3 
of Policy 12 (Housing Standards) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land 
and Planning Policies]. 
 

13. Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby permitted a scheme for 
the provision of Electric Vehicle Charging Point (EVCP) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted 
scheme must include details of the type, number and location of the 
proposed EVCP apparatus. The dwelling hereby permitted must not be first 
occupied until the EVCP has been installed in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
[To promote sustainable transport measures that will help lead to a 
reduction in carbon emissions within the Borough and help contribute 
towards a reduction in general air quality having regard to Policy 2 (Climate 
Change) of the Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and Policy 41 (Air 
Quality) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 
(2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework (September 2023).] 
 

14. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood 
risk assessment received  12 December 2023 (ref P2022-317, Revision 03, 

page 24



 

 

 

dated 29th November 2023 and compiled by Moran Structural Consultants) 
and the following mitigation measures it details: 
 

• Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 25.47 metres above 
Ordnance Datum (AOD), as detailed within Section 15.2 of the report 

• The building shall be constructed with a suspended floor incorporating 
a floodable space beneath the footprint of the proposed dwelling, as 
detailed within Section 15.5 of the report 

• The implementation of the flood risk mitigation measures detailed within 
Section 15.10 of the report.  

 
These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation 
and subsequently in accordance with the scheme’s timing/phasing 
arrangements. The measures detailed above shall be retained and 
maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development.  
 
[To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants. To mitigate against the risk of increasing flood risk elsewhere]. 

 
15. The dwelling hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

recommendations included within the Residential Noise Survey from NOVA 
Acoustic Ltd (job reference: NP-009711 rev 002, dated 26/07/2023).  
 
[In the interests of the amenity of the future occupiers of the dwelling in 
accordance with Policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1]. 
 

16. Prior to the development commencing above damp proof course level a 
TM59 overheating assessment shall be undertaken and submitted in writing 
to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
[In the interests of the amenity of the future occupiers of the dwelling in 
accordance with Policy 1 of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1.] 
 

17. The development hereby permitted must not commence until a scheme for 
the disposal of foul and surface water has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development hereby 
permitted must not be occupied or first brought into use until the drainage 
scheme has been implemented and completed in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
To ensure a satisfactory standard of development in terms of the disposal 
of foul water and to ensure that the development increases water 
attenuation/storage on the site and minimises the risk of flooding elsewhere 
having regard to Policy 2 (Climate Change) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 
1: Core Strategy (2014), Policies 17 (Managing Flood Risk) and 18 (Surface 
Water Management) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies (2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
18. a) If during the course of carrying out the development hereby permitted 

any unexpected contamination is found that has not been previously 
identified, it must be reported to the Local Planning Authority within (48 
hours). All development on the site must cease immediately and must not 
recommence until a written scheme for the investigation and risk 

page 25



 

 

 

assessment of the unexpected contamination has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted scheme 
must be prepared by a suitably qualified ‘competent person’ (as defined in 
the National Planning Policy Framework February) and must be in 
accordance with the Environment Agency’s ‘Land Contamination Risk 
Management’ (LCRM). 
 
b) Where remediation of the contamination is necessary no further 
development shall commence on the site until a Remediation Strategy (RS) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The submitted RS must include full details of how the 
contamination on the site is to be remediated and include (where 
appropriate) details of any options appraisal undertaken; the proposed 
remediation objectives and criteria; and, a verification plan. 
   
The RS must demonstrate that as a minimum the site after remediation will 
not be capable of being classified as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990.  
 
c) The development hereby permitted must not be occupied or first brought 
into use until the site has been remediated in accordance with the approved 
RS and a written Verification Report (VR) confirming that all measures 
outlined in the approved RS have been successfully carried out and 
completed has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The VR must include, where appropriate the results of 
any validation testing and copies of any necessary waste management 
documentation.   

 
[To ensure that any unexpected contamination that is encountered is  
appropriately remediated so that the site is suitable for the approved 
development without resulting any unacceptable risk to the health of any 
construction workers, future users of the site, occupiers of nearby land or 
the wider environment having regard to Policy 1 (Presumption in Favour of 
Sustainable Development) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 
(2014), Policies 39 (Health Impacts of Development) and 40 (Pollution and 
Land Contamination) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies (2019) and the National Planning Policy Framework]. 

 
19. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Schedule 2 Part 1 Class A and D of 

the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 
Order 2015 (or any order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order) no 
enlargement or any other alteration shall be carried out to the dwelling(s) 
hereby permitted without express planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over any future 
enlargements and/or alterations that may harm the amenities of 
neighbouring properties, the appearance of the dwelling or the character of 
the area having regard to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identify) of 
the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and Policy 1 
(Development Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and 
Planning Policies (2019). 
 

20. Notwithstanding the provisions Schedule 2 Part 1 Class E of the Town and 

page 26



 

 

 

Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(or any order revoking and/or re-enacting that Order) no outbuildings or 
other structures shall be erected within the curtilage of the dwelling(s) 
hereby permitted without express planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over any future 
outbuildings and other structures within its curtilage that may harm the 
amenities of neighbouring properties or the character of the area having 
regard to Policy 10 (Design and Enhancing Local Identify) of the Rushcliffe 
Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy (2014) and Policy 1 (Development 
Requirements) of the Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning 
Policies (2019). 
 

 
Note- 
 
Negotiations have taken place during the consideration of the application to address 
adverse impacts identified by officers in connection with the proposal. Amendments 
have been made to the proposal, addressing the identified adverse impacts, thereby 
resulting in a more acceptable scheme and the grant of planning permission. 

 
Having regard to the above and having taken into account matters raised there are 
no other material considerations which are of significant weight in reaching a decision 
on this application. 
 
NOTES TO APPLICANT 
 
Please be advised that all applications approved on or after the 7th October 2019 may 
be subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Further information about CIL 
can be found on the Borough Council's website at 
Community Infrastructure Levy - Rushcliffe Borough Council. 
 
You are advised to ensure disturbance to neighbouring properties is kept to a 
minimum during construction/demolition by restricting working hours and deliveries of 
materials to the site to Monday to Friday 7.00am to 7.00pm, Saturday 8.00am to 
5.00pm and by not working on Sundays or Bank Holidays. If you intend to work 
outside these hours you are requested to contact the Environmental Health Team on 
0115 914 8322. 
 
This permission does not give any legal right for any work on, over or under land or 
buildings outside the application site ownership or affecting neighbouring property, 
including buildings, walls, fences and vegetation within that property. If any such work 
is anticipated, the consent of the adjoining landowner must first be obtained. The 
responsibility for meeting any claims for damage to such features lies with the 
applicant. 
 
The provisions of the Party Wall Act 1996 may apply in relation to the boundaries with 
the neighbouring property. A Solicitor or Chartered Surveyor may be able to give 
advice as to whether the proposed work falls within the scope of this Act and the 
necessary measures to be  
taken. You can find more information about the Party Wall Act here:  
The Party Wall etc Act 1996: explanatory booklet - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

 
page 27

https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/planning-growth/cil/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/preventing-and-resolving-disputes-in-relation-to-party-walls/the-party-wall-etc-act-1996-explanatory-booklet


 

 

 

Precautionary working methods will be required including fingertip searches of any 
potential refugia, particularly hedge bases. Any open trenches should be made safe, 
and pipes capped off overnight.  
 
Any garden fence, or other non-permeable structure, should be provided with a small 
hole (130mm x 130mm) to allow a continuous pathway in which hedgehogs can move 
through the developed residential site. 
  
 

page 28



 

 

Planning Ref: Address Proposal or Breach Appeal 
Decision  

Decision Type Planning Inspectorate  
Reference and link to 
Appeal decision notice 

Comments/Decisio
n Date  

              

 
22/02158/FUL 

 
22 Costock Road, 
East Leake 

 
Erection of new two storey 
dwellinghouse; Associated 
landscaping and access 
works 

  
Dismissed 

 
Delegated  

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3325339 

 
15/05/2024 

 
23/00333/FUL 

 
22 Costock Road, 
East Leake 

 
Erection of new two storey 
dwellinghouse; Associated 
landscaping and access 
works 

 
Dismissed 

 
Delegated 

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3331596 

 
15/05/2024 

 
23/01133/FUL 

 
22 Costock Road, 
East Leake 

 
Two storey and single 
storey side extension, new 
parking space 

 
Allowed  

 
Non Determination 

 

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3332638 

 
15/05/2024 

 
22/02311/FUL 

 
Hillside Farm, 
Bunny Lane, 
Keyworth 

 
Erection of 73 dwellings 
including landscaping, 
public open space and 
associated infrastructure. 
 

 
Dismissed 

 
Committee 

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3333863 

 
16/05/2024 

page 29

A
genda Item

 5



 

 

22/01689/FUL Pleasant View, 
20 Landcroft 
Lane, Sutton  

Change of use to create 
private garden; Creation of 
new gravel walkway; 
Erection of single storey 
outbuilding; Extension to 
raised patio; Creation of 
private garden with 
associated landscaping and 
access works. 

Dismissed  Delegated  APP/P3040/W/23/3328765 22/05/2024 

 
23/01446/FUL 

 
Staythorpe 
House, 
Loughbon, 
Orston  

 
Change of use of 
outbuilding from office to 
residential accomodation 
for holiday lettings 

 
Allowed 

 
Delegated 

 

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3331462 

 
23/05/2024 

 
21/02109/OUT 

 
Land At Former 
Bunny 
Brickworks Site, 
Loughborough 
Road, Bunny  

 
Outline application for the 
erection of up to 110 
dwellings and up to 
5,600sqm of employment 
units including associated 
infrastructure, access, 
roadway, parking and 
landscape/amenity areas 
(all matters reserved 
except for access). 

 
Allowed 

 
Committee 

 
APP/P3040/W/24/3336687 

 
24/05/2024 

 
23/00295/FUL 

 
Wood View  
Oak Tree Court 
Tollerton 

 
Change use of land to form 
part of private garden. 
Erect a greenhouse and 
extend existing wooden 
outbuilding. 

 
Dismissed 

 
Delegated 

 
APP/P3040/W/23/3331088 

 
29/05/2024 

 

page 30



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 21 May 2024  
by S Dean MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 24 May 2024 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/P3040/W/24/3336687 
Land At Former Bunny Brick Works Site, Loughborough Road, Bunny, 

Nottinghamshire NG11 6QN  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by BMET Ltd against the decision of Rushcliffe Borough Council. 

• The application Ref is 21/0219/OUT. 

• The development proposed is the erection of up to 110 dwellings and up to 5,600sqm of 

employment units including associated infrastructure, access, roadway, parking and 

landscape/amenity areas. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed, and outline planning permission is granted for the 
erection of up to 110 dwellings and up to 5,600sqm of employment units 
including associated infrastructure, access, roadway, parking and 

landscape/amenity areas on Land At Former Bunny Brick Works Site, Bunny, 
Nottinghamshire NG11 6QN in accordance with the terms of the application, 

Ref 21/0219/OUT, subject to the conditions in the attached schedule. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. The application was made in outline with approval sought for access.  

3. Layout, appearance, landscaping and scale would be the subject of future 
applications for approval of reserved matters. Detailed plans were submitted 

showing the accesses. The layout drawings submitted are clearly described 
throughout the evidence as indicative and I have treated them as such in this 
decision.  

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is whether or not the scale of residential development proposed 

is acceptable having regard to the development plan. 

Reasons 

5. The Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 1: Core Strategy 2014 (the Core Strategy) sets 

out a number of spatial objectives including the provision of high-quality new 
housing, economic prosperity for all, and regeneration. To those ends, the 

Rushcliffe Local Plan Part 2: Land and Planning Policies 2019 (the Part 2 Plan), 
allocates the appeal site, the former Bunny Brickworks, under Policy 23 for a 
mixed-use development of around 100 homes and employment purposes.  

  

page 31

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. Policy 23 includes a number of caveats, notably that the area is identified for 

“around 100 homes” and that the “southern half” of it must be safeguarded 
and developed for employment purposes. Given the surrounding land uses and 

well-vegetated nature of the site boundaries, the policy also includes 
requirements around amenity and habitats. It is not the role of this appeal to 
unpick or rehearse the allocation, examination or adoption processes which led 

to Policy 23 becoming a part of the development plan. 

7. Set against those requirements, the appeal proposal shows detailed designs for 

two accesses. One is on the eastern side, shared with the existing materials 
recycling facility, ostensibly for the employment part of the proposal. The other 
is on the northern boundary of the site, nominally for the proposed residential 

part of the proposal. The appeal proposal also specifies a maximum number of 
dwellings and amount of employment floor space on the site.  

8. Nottinghamshire County Council as Local Highway Authority have no objections 
to the proposed accesses, subject to conditions. Visibility splays are considered 
appropriate for the proposed uses and the surrounding road conditions, and 

there are no outstanding or unresolvable constraints or capacity issues.  

9. There is nothing in the wording “around 100” in the allocation, or “up to 110” in 

the application which would prevent lower numbers of homes coming forwards 
in any future reserved matters applications, to meet the other criteria in 
Policy 23 and the overarching requirement to comply with other policies in the 

Part 2 Plan.  

10. Similarly, there is nothing in the parts of the proposal which are actually before 

me for consideration (that is, the accesses) to suggest that the employment 
and residential requirements of the allocation could not properly and 
appropriately be reconciled. In this I note the commentary in the supporting 

text to Policy 23 which highlights the long standing, undelivered former 
allocation on the site, as well as the acknowledgement that the provision of 

around 100 dwellings is appropriate.  

11. Policy 23 establishes the principle of development on this site and does so in 
the context of a previous undelivered employment allocation. This outline 

application establishes more detailed parameters (in this case, a maximum 
number of dwellings and a maximum square-meterage of employment space) 

and secures the positions and detailed designs of the accesses. The fine-grain 
detail, of appearance, landscaping, layout and scale, including the balance to 
be struck between residential and employment, are matters reserved for future 

approvals. There is nothing in the evidence before me, particularly from the 
Council, that suggests that these future approval processes cannot properly 

reconcile the various requirements of Policy 23 whilst also complying with the 
other policies in the development plan. Whereas there is clear evidence 

showing one form of development which may be accommodated within the 
site, subject to those processes.  

12. What has been applied for does not therefore conflict with the development 

plan, specifically the requirements of Policy 23 of the Part 2 Plan set out above. 
The appeal proposal is an important step towards the site making its planned 

contribution towards the regeneration, employment and housing aims of the 
Core Strategy. It also accords with National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework) aims for the planning system to be plan-led and for development 

to accord with the development plan. 

page 32

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

Other Matters 

13. I note representations both to the application and appeal, concerning such 
matters as highway safety, drainage, sewerage, facilities and infrastructure, 

biodiversity effects, amenity, public transport accessibility and sustainability. 
These matters were assessed in detail by the Council in their consideration of 
the application, and they found that the proposal was, or could be made, 

through the imposition of conditions, acceptable in all of these regards. In light 
of the evidence before me, including all representations, I agree with those 

conclusions.  

14. Third parties and the operators of the materials recycling facility to the south of 
the appeal site have also made representations on the compatibility of the 

appeal proposals with existing, surrounding uses. Whilst this is clearly an 
important matter for consideration, there is nothing in the evidence which 

suggests that the appeal proposal would not be compatible with surrounding 
uses. I am therefore satisfied that subject to appropriate design details, 
existing businesses and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions 

placed on them as a result of development, such as this, permitted after they 
were established, consistent with the requirements of the Framework.   

Planning obligation 

15. I have had regard to the evidence, the relevant guidance in the Framework and 
considered whether the requirement for contributions towards affordable 

housing, open space, bus stops, libraries, primary and special education meets 
the tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure 

Regulations 2010. I am satisfied that such a contribution would be necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, directly relates to the 
development and is fairly related in scale and kind to the development. 

16. A signed and sealed unilateral undertaking under section 106 of the Act has 
been provided. The Council has confirmed that this meets their requirements, 

both legally and with regard to what it will secure and deliver. I agree with that 
conclusion. On that basis, I consider that the proposal could secure satisfactory 
contributions towards the matters listed above.   

Conditions 

17. The Council has suggested a number of conditions to be attached, should 

planning permission be granted. Having had regard to the requirements of the 
Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) I have imposed 
standard outline conditions, amended from those suggested by the Council for 

clarity and precision. I have not included the suggested wording of the Council 
requiring the areas for residential and employment uses to be “broadly in 

accordance with… the submitted indicative layout”. Such a condition would not 
be precise, and I do not consider it would be reasonable, given the status of 

that drawing, the nature of the application before me and the content of 
Policy 23.  

18. The remainder of the conditions suggested by the Council, and considered by 

the appellant, have been imposed, subject to minor corrections and the 
removal of tailpieces where these would be inappropriate.  

  

page 33

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

19. I am therefore satisfied that the conditions I have imposed meet the tests in, 

and requirements of both the Framework and the PPG, that they have been 
kept to a minimum and only imposed where necessary, relevant to planning, 

relevant to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise, and 
reasonable in all other respects.  

Conclusion 

20. Taking all of the above together, I find that the proposal would not conflict with 
the development plan, and there are no material considerations which indicate 

that a decision be taken other than in accordance with the development plan.  

21. The appeal should therefore be allowed, and outline planning permission 
granted.  

 

S Dean  

INSPECTOR 

 
  

page 34

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

Schedule of Conditions 

1. Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale (hereinafter called 
"the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority before any development takes place and the 
development shall be carried out as approved. 

2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 
planning authority not later than 3 years from the date of this permission. 

3. The development hereby permitted shall take place not later than 2 years from 
the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

- Drawing BBW-AEC-XX-XX-DR-CE-02001 Rev P1 ‘GENERAL ARRANGEMENT 
NORTH ACCESS’   
- Drawing BBW-AEC-XX-XX-DR-CE-02002 Rev P1 ‘GENERAL ARRANGEMENT 

EAST ACCESS’ 

5. No development shall be carried out until a Phasing Plan, including details of 

phasing for the approved development has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The phasing plan shall include details 
of: 

a. the timing of the provision of infrastructure to serve the proposed 
development (including road improvements and drainage facilities) in 

relation to the provision of any new residential units; 
b. the timing of biodiversity, SUDS and landscaping features; and 
c. the timing of the provision of on-site recreation/open play space provision 

in relation to the provision of any new residential units. 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 

phasing plan. 

6. No development shall take place in the relevant phase, including any works of 
demolition, until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and 

approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement 
shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall 

provide for: 
 
a. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 

b. loading and unloading of plant and materials 
c. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development 

d. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 
e. decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
f. wheel washing facilities 

g. details of techniques for the control of noise, dust and vibration during 
demolition and construction. 

h. a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
i. and construction works. 
j. The siting and appearance of contractor’s compounds including heights of 

stored materials, boundaries and lighting together with measures for the 
restoration of the disturbed land and noise mitigation. 

page 35

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 

period. 

7. No development shall take place in the relevant phase (other than for the 

access to approved by under this permission) until details of the following in 
respect of that phase have been submitted:- 

 

i. A detailed layout plan of the proposed development 
ii. The siting, design and external appearance of the proposed buildings; 

iii. details of finished ground and floor levels in relation to an existing datum 
point, existing site levels and adjoining land 
iv. Cycle and bin storage facilities; 

v. Sections and cross sections of the site showing the relationship of the 
proposed development to adjoining land and premises; 

vi. The means of enclosure to be erected on the site; 
vii. The finishes for the hard-surfaced areas of the site; 
viii. The layout and marking of car parking, servicing and manoeuvring 

areas; 
ix. Plans, sections and cross sections of any roads or access/service roads or 

pedestrian routes within the application site, and this shall include details of 
drainage, surfacing and lighting; 
x. The means of access within the site; 

xi. Details of the means of foul and surface water drainage; 
xii. The number and location of the affordable dwellings to be provided 

together with the mix of dwellings in terms of number of bedrooms and 
proportion of houses and flats and tenure; 
xiii. Details of how renewable/ energy efficiency, climate change proofing 

has been incorporated into the phased to include a scheme for the provision 
of electric charging points and measures to conserve and recycle water; 

xiv. A statement providing an explanation as to how the design of the 
development has had regard to the Design and Access Statement submitted 
with the application and include an assessment the development against the 

Building for Life Standards. 
xv. Details of connectivity between the residential and employment areas 

xvi. Details of on-site recreation space/facilities to serve the proposed 
development. Details to be submitted shall include landscaping, planting and 
any equipment to be provided on the proposed amenity spaces with 

equipment for the proposed LEAP 
xvii. Noise Impact Assessment and mitigation 

The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with those 
approved details. 

8. No development shall commence in any relevant phase until details of the new 
accesses, internal new roads have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority including longitudinal and cross-sectional 

gradients, street lighting, drainage and outfall proposals, construction 
specification, provision of and diversion of utilities services, and any proposed 

structural works. The development shall be implemented in accordance with 
these details to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 

  

page 36

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          7 

9. No part of the development hereby approved shall commence until a detailed 

surface water drainage scheme based on the principles set forward by the 
approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Drainage Strategy has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Lead Local Flood Authority. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details prior to completion of the 

development. 

The scheme submitted shall provide evidence or details of how the on-site 

surface water drainage systems shall be maintained and managed after 
completion and for the lifetime of the development. 

10. No development shall take place until the existing trees and/or hedges which 

are to be retained in or adjoining that phase have been protected in accordance 
with details to first be submitted and approved by the Borough Council. The 

approved scheme of protection shall be retained for the duration of the 
construction period. No materials, machinery or vehicles shall be stored or 
temporary buildings erected within the perimeter of the fence, nor shall any 

excavation work be undertaken within the confines of the fence without the 
written approval of the Local Planning Authority. No changes of ground level 

shall be made within the protected area without the written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

11. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme of archaeological 

investigation including a program of trial trenching shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Borough Council and the scheme of investigation 

shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details and methodology as 
approved. 

12. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, 

vegetation clearance) until a construction ecological management plan (CEMP) 
incorporating Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP shall include 
a pre- commencement Badger Survey. The CEMP shall build upon the 
recommendations of: 

 
- Ecological Impact Assessment (Weddle Landscape Design- October 2021) 

Section 5.2 
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Weddle Landscape Design- March 2021) - 
Section 5 

- Badger Survey (Weddle Landscape Design- May 2021)- Section 5 
[confidential] 

 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the 

construction period in accordance with the approved details. 
  

page 37

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          8 

13. No development shall take place until an Employment and Skills Strategy for 

the construction phase of the approved development shall be produced in 
consultation with the Economic Growth team and submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Borough Council. This strategy will be based on the relevant City 
framework and will provide opportunities for people in the locality to include 
employment, apprenticeships and training, and curriculum support in schools 

and colleges. The strategy will be implemented by the developer throughout 
the duration of the construction in accordance with the approved details and in 

partnership with relevant stakeholders. 

14. The development (excluding any demolition) hereby permitted must not 
commence until a detailed Remediation Scheme (RS) has been submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted RS 
must include: 

 
a) full details of how the contamination on the site is to be remediated and 
include (where appropriate) details of any options appraisal undertaken; 

b) the proposed remediation objectives and criteria; and, 
c) a verification plan. 

 
The RS must demonstrate that as a minimum the site after remediation will 
not be capable of being classified as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

15. The development hereby permitted must not be occupied or first brought into 

use until the site has been remediated in accordance with the approved RS and 
a written Verification Report (VR) confirming that all measures outlined in the 
approved RS have been successfully carried out and completed has been 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The VR 
must include, where appropriate the results of any validation testing and copies 

of any necessary waste management documentation. 

16. Any topsoil (natural or manufactured), or subsoil that is to be imported onto 
the site must be assessed for chemical or other potential contaminants in 

accordance with a written scheme of investigation which shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority prior to the material 

being bought onto the site. Only material that has been tested in accordance 
with the approved investigation scheme shall be imported onto the site. 

  

page 38

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          9 

17. No development shall take place in any relevant phase (other than for the 

access approved under this permission) until the details of the landscaping 
scheme for that phase, to include those details specified below, have been 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Borough Council: 
 
a) the treatment proposed for all ground surfaces 

b) full details of tree planting; 
c) planting schedules, noting the species, sizes, numbers and densities of 

plants. Measure to provide habitat enhancements should be adopted 
including the use of native fruiting species within landscaping and retention 
and gapping up hedgerows, new hedgerows, retention of mature trees and 

the use of bat and bird boxes / tubes. 
d) finished levels or contours; 

e) all existing trees, hedges and other landscape features, indicating clearly 
those to be removed; 
f) details of all boundary treatments including height, design, location, 

materials and finish; and 
g) details of how the landscape proposals comply and compliment the 

ecological requirements set out in the other relevant conditions 
h) details of minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, 
refuse or other storage units, signs and lighting) 

i) proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines). 

 
The works shall be carried out as approved. Any trees or planting which die, 
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased within 5 years of 

completion of the development within that phase shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of a similar size and species. 

18. Prior to the commencement of development, an addendum update to the 
Ecological Impact Assessment (Weddle Landscape Design- October 2021) shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Borough Council. Any 

mitigation measures or further surveys required shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 

Authority. 

19. No development in any phase shall take place (other than for the access 
approved under this permission) until a landscape and ecological management 

plan for that phase (LEMP) has been submitted and approved in writing by the 
Borough Council. This plan shall cover all public open space, ecological 

enhancement areas and Green/blue infrastructure. The agreed mitigation and 
enhancements shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed works and 

timetable for implementation set out in the approved management plan and 
shall allow for the means to implement this plan in perpetuity. 

20. No development shall take place in any relevant phase (other than for the 

access approved under this permission) until the technical approval under S38 
has been agreed with Nottinghamshire County Council for the construction of 

the roads and associated works within that phase of the site. The development 
shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details and no 
dwelling in that phase shall be occupied until the roads necessary to serve that 

property have been constructed to base level. 

page 39

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          10 

21. The development hereby permitted must not progress above damp proof 

course/ foundation level until such time that a Noise Impact Assessment (NIA) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

The NIA must be prepared by a suitably qualified acoustician and as a 
minimum must include the following: 

 

a) A survey of the existing level of noise on and around the site, identifying 
the locations of all noise generating source(s) and the maximum and 

minimum noise levels from those source(s) from within and around the site, 
including the employment units to the South of the development and the 
Bunny Materials Recycling Facility to the south of the application site. 

b) A prediction of the level of noise impact on the proposed development as 
a result of existing noise source(s) around the site; 

c) Propose mitigation measures to protect future occupiers of the proposed 
development from existing noise generated off the site. 
 

The development hereby permitted must be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the approved NIA and any mitigation measures proposed 

must be fully implemented prior to the development being occupied or first 
bought into use. 

22. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be brought into use until 

the access driveways and parking areas are constructed with provision to 
prevent the unregulated discharge of surface water from the driveways and 

parking areas to the public highway. The provision to prevent the unregulated 
discharge of surface water to the public highway shall then be retained for the 
life of the development. 

23. No dwelling shall be occupied until an appropriate agreement under Section 
278 of the Highways Act 1980 has been entered into with the Highway 

Authority and the following highways works have been completed: 
 
a) Widening the footway to 2m width on the south side on Gotham Lane 

from the residential access road of the development to suitable a location 
where an informal crossing facility can be provided. 

b) Widening the existing narrow footpath to 2m width, linking Gotham Lane 
to the A60 Loughborough Road. 
c) Widening the footway to 2m width on the west side of the A60 

Loughborough Road from the footpath to the informal crossing north of the 
A60 Loughborough Road. 

d) Re-aligning the road markings at the junction of A60 Loughborough Road 
and Gotham Lane to extend the right turning lane to accommodate more 

vehicles turning right into Gotham Lane. 

24. The residential development shall not be occupied or be brought into use until 
the owner or the occupier of the site has appointed and thereafter continue to 

employ or engage a travel plan coordinator, to be responsible for the 
implementation delivery monitoring and promotion of the sustainable transport 

initiatives set out in the Travel Plan, whose details shall be provided and shall 
continue to be provided thereafter to the Borough Council. 

  

page 40

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          11 

25. The travel plan coordinator shall submit reports to and update the TRICS 

database in accordance with the Standard Assessment Methodology (SAM) or 
similar to be approved and to the Local Planning Authority in accordance with 

the Travel Plan monitoring periods to be agreed. The monitoring reports 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority shall summarise the data collected 
over the monitoring period that shall have categorised trip types into new trips, 

pass-by-trips, linked trips, diverted trips, and transferred trips, and propose 
revised initiatives and measures where travel plan targets are not being met 

including implementation dates to be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

26. The travel plan coordinator shall within 3 months of occupation of the final 

dwelling produce or procure a full travel plan that sets out final targets with 
respect the number of vehicles using the site and the adoption of measures to 

reduce single occupancy car travel to be approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved timetable and be updated consistent with future travel initiatives 

including implementation dates to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

27. Delivery and waste collection times for the commercial uses shall be restricted 
to the following times, to cause the minimum amount of disturbance to 
neighbouring residents: 

 
Monday-Friday 0700 - 1800 hours 

Saturday 0800 - 1700 hours 
Sunday/Bank Holidays No deliveries or waste collection 

28. If trees T16 and T101 and offsite tree T24 are to be impacted by the 

development a further Roost Assessment must be undertaken, the results of 
which shall be submitted to and the mitigation measures approved in writing 

prior to the commencement of works on these identified trees. 

29. No non-residential unit shall be occupied until a scheme has been submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Borough Council to cover the following: 

 
a) hours of operation of those premises 

b) details of delivery handling equipment and industrial processes to be 
undertaken; 
c) details of externally mounted plant, equipment, tools and machinery or 

internally mounted plant, equipment, power tools and machinery which 
vents externally; 

d) associated structural planting and external and internal buffer zones to 
mitigate any noise generated; 

e) details of refuse collection and bin storage and servicing arrangements; 
f) details of security lighting or flood lighting to be installed on the 
employment premises or associated open areas including lux plot of 

estimated illumination and designed, located and installed so as not to cause 
nuisance to neighbouring residents or to users of the highway and to avoid 

significant impacts on foraging commuting bats; 
g) hours of deliveries taken at or dispatched from and waste collection; 
h) details of any outdoor storage or display of goods or materials. 

page 41

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/P3040/W/24/3336687

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          12 

The units shall thereafter be used, and any plant/equipment shall be 

installed, and retained in accordance with the approved scheme. 

30. The commercial buildings hereby approved shall not exceed a height of 10.2 

metres above the existing ground levels and the total floor area shall not 
exceed 5,600sqm. 

31. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or 
re-enacting that Order) the employment development hereby approved must 

only be used for uses within Use Class E(g)(i), (ii), and (iii), and/or Use class 
B2 and/or Use Class B8 purposes and for no other purpose whatsoever 
(including any other purpose within Class E of the Schedule to the Town and 

Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any provision equivalent to that 
class in any Statutory Instrument revoking and/or re-enacting that Order with 

or without modification) without express planning permission from the Local 
Planning Authority. 

32. The dwellings hereby permitted shall be designed to meet the higher 'Optional 

Technical Housing Standard' for water consumption of no more than 110 litres 
per person per day. 

33. The residential part of the development hereby approved shall comprise no 
more than 110 dwellings. 

 

End of Schedule of Conditions 

page 42

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 May 2024
	4 Planning Applications
	Land North West of 42 Wilford Lane
	23-01251-FUL - Land North West of 42 Wilford Lane West Bridgford

	5 Planning Appeals
	3336687 Appeal Decision


